
 

 

 

 

PERSONNEL AND GENERAL 

PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE 

 

AGENDA 

 

 Date: Wednesday, 3rd March, 2021 

 Time: 7.00 pm 

 Venue: 
 

Remote Meeting 

 
 



2 

PERSONNEL AND GENERAL PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE  
 

Information for Members of the Public 
 
Due to the current Covid-19 pandemic Worcester City Council will be holding this meeting in 

accordance with the relevant legislative arrangements for remote meetings of a local authority. For 

more information please refer to: Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 

(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 

2020. 

 

Please note that this is a public meeting, conducting remotely by videoconferencing between invited 

participants and live streamed for general access by audio via the Council’s website. 

 

Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public. You can listen to a live audio stream of the 

meeting via the City Council website www.worcester.gov.uk/councillors-democracy. You have the right 

to inspect electronic copies of Minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as well as background 

documents used in the preparation of these reports. Details of the background papers appear at the 

foot of each report. Part II of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items of 'Exempt Information' for 

which it is anticipated that the public may be excluded from the meeting and neither reports nor 

background papers are open to public inspection. 

 

Members of the public and press are permitted to report on the proceedings. "Reporting" in the context 

of this remote meeting includes making an audio recording of the live streamed audio and providing 

commentary on proceedings. Any communicative method can be used to report on the proceedings, 

including the internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings. 

 

At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is allowed 

for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any matter on the 

Agenda. Participation in remote meetings will extend to video and/or audio participation or written 

submission read aloud at the appropriate point in the meeting by the Chairman. Participants need to 

indicate that they wish to take part in a remote meeting by 4.30 p.m. on the last working day before 

the meeting by telephoning or E-Mailing the officer mentioned below. A Democratic Services Officer will 

then contact to advise how to participate in the remote meeting, by invitation. Requests to participate 

received later than this cut-off time may not be accommodated. 

 

If a member of the public chooses to speak at a meeting of the City Council, he/she will be deemed to 

have given their consent to being recorded and audio being published live to the Council’s website. The 

Chairman of the meeting, can at their discretion, terminate or suspend recording, if in their opinion, 

continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting or if they consider that continued 

recording might infringe the rights of any individual, or breach any statutory provision. 

 

If you have any queries about this Agenda, require any details of background papers, or wish to 

discuss the arrangements for public participation please contact Julian Pugh, Democratic Services 

Administrator, Democratic Services, Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY  Telephone: 01905 722027 (direct 

line).  E-Mail Address: committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk 

 

This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of ethnic 

minority languages. Please contact the above-named officer for further information. 

 

 



3 

Personnel and General Purposes Sub-Committee 
Wednesday, 3 March 2021 

 

Members of the Committee:- 

 

Chairman: Councillor Louis Stephen (G) 
Vice-Chairman: Councillor Marc Bayliss (C) and Councillor Adrian Gregson (L) 

 
Councillor Roger Berry (LCo) 

Councillor Mrs. Lucy Hodgson (C) 
 

Councillor Chris Mitchell (C) 

Councillor Joy Squires (L) 
 

 

  

C= Conservative G = Green L = Labour LCo = Labour and Co-operative  
LD = Liberal Democrat 

 

AGENDA 
 

Part 1 
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC) 

 

1. Appointment of Substitutes  

 To receive details of any Members appointed to attend the meeting instead of a 
Member of the Sub-Committee. 

 

2. Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of interest. 

 

3. Public Participation  

 Up to a total of fifteen minutes can be allowed, each speaker being allocated a 

maximum of five minutes, for members of the public to present a petition, ask a 
question or comment on any matter on the Agenda or within the remit of the Sub-
Committee. 

 

4. Minutes  

Page(s): 1 - 4 

 Of the meeting held on 14th October 2020 to be approved and signed. 
 

5. Family Friendly Policy and Procedures  

Page(s): 5 - 36 

Ward(s): All Wards 

Contact Officer:  Hilary Price, Human Resources Officer 

Tel: 01905 722055 

 To recommend approval of the proposed amendments to the following Family 

Friendly Policy & Procedures:  
 
Maternity Leave and Pay Policy  

Maternity / Adoption Support Leave  
Family Friendly Employment Policy  

Flexible Working Policy. 
 



4 

6. Sustainable Travel to Work  

Ward(s): All Wards 

Contact Officer:  Mark Edwards, Head of People Services 

Tel: 01905 722042 

 Councillor Stephen has requested this item. An oral report will be given at the 
meeting. 

 

7. Any Other Business  

 Which in the opinion of the Chairman is of sufficient urgency as to warrant 

consideration. 
 



PERSONNEL AND GENERAL PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
14th October 2020 

 
Present:  
 

Councillor Gregson (Vice-Chair) in the Chair 

 Councillors Bayliss (Vice-Chairman), Berry, 
Mrs L. Hodgson, Mitchell and Squires 

 
Officers: David Blake, Managing Director 

Shane Flynn, Corporate Director – Finance 

and Resources 
Sian Stroud, Deputy Director - 

Governance 
 

Apologies:  

 

Councillor Stephen 

8 Appointment of Substitutes  

 
Councillor Laurenson for Councillor Stephen. 
 

9 Declarations of Interest  
 

None. 
 

10 Public Participation  

 
None. 

 
11 Minutes  

 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 15th July 2020 
be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

 
12 Parental Bereavement Leave Policy and Procedure  

 

The Sub-Committee considered the adoption of a Parental Bereavement Leave 
Policy and Procedure. The Corporate Director – Finance and Resources presented 

the report and explained that Parental Bereavement Leave is a new entitlement 
for bereaved parents to be absent from work, for up to two weeks. The new 

statutory right is available to the parents of a child, under the age of 18, who dies 
on or after 6th April 2020. The proposed Policy reiterated the Council’s 
commitment to supporting employees during times of bereavement. 

 
Sub-Committee Members expressed support for the proposal. 

 
RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee approve the new Parental 
Bereavement Leave Policy and Procedure including enhancing statutory 

bereavement pay to ensure employees continue to receive their normal 
pay, regardless of their length of service. 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



 14th October 2020 2 

 
 

13 Living Wage Foundation Accreditation  

 
The Corporate Director – Finance and Resources presented a report on progress 

since the previous report to this Sub-Committee on the matter on 26th February 
2020. 
 

In summary, Officers had: 
 

• held discussions with Freedom Leisure, the Council’s main contractor that 
will be affected by these proposals; 

 

• contacted the procurement team at Birmingham City Council who explained 
how they have built living wage compliance into their procurement 

processes; 
 
• reviewed the legal position to understand fully the potential implications of 

procurement regulations in relation to Living Wage Employer accreditation. 
 

Freedom Leisure estimated that this would add around £110,000 a year to their 
payroll costs. However, the Living Wage Foundation did not anticipate that 
contractual arrangements with suppliers should altered in mid-contract. Therefore, 

the change would not come into force under normal circumstances until 2025, by 
which date the actual rate would have increased. Freedom Leisure had confirmed 

that their business model can accommodate paying different rates for similar work 
in different parts of the country. 

 
In summary, City Council accreditation with the Living Wage Foundation appeared 
to be entirely possible, but with cost implications. It was estimated that annual 

excess costs, most of which will not be incurred until 2025 on renewal of the 
leisure contract, would be in the order of £150,000 every year, based on current 

pay rates and applying inflation and a degree of contingency. If this policy was 
adopted then the City Council would need to plan for this by incorporating a cost 
pressure risk in the Medium Term Financial Plan and reviewing the balance of 

costs and benefits during the tender exercise for the Leisure contract when it is 
renewed. 

 
In response to questions, the Corporate Director explained that the anticipated 
cost represented approximately 30% of the total contract fee. If that proved to be 

unaffordable, a contract variation might need to be considered. The Corporate 
Director undertook to do a further piece work to ascertain how this might impact 

on the number of staff employed to deliver the contract.  
 
Sub-Committee Members concluded that there were significant benefits and 

expressed support for making an application for accreditation. 
 

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee agree to: 
 
1. note the analysis set out in this report and the previous report of 26th 

February 2020; and 
 

2. recommend to the Policy and Resources Committee that the Council 
applies for accreditation with the Living Wage Foundation. 

 

Page 2



 14th October 2020 3 

 
 

14 Any Other Business  

 
None. 

 
 
 

Duration of the meeting: 7.00p.m.- 7.22p.m. 
 

 
 
 

Chair at the meeting on 
3rd March 2021 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 1   

 

 
 

 
Report to: Personnel and General Purposes Committee, 3rd March 2021    

 
Report of: Head of People Services   
 

 

Subject: FAMILY FRIENDLY POLICY & PROCEDURES 
 
1. Recommendation 

 
1.1 To recommend approval of the proposed amendments to the following Family 

Friendly Policy & Procedures:  

Maternity Leave and Pay Policy  

Maternity / Adoption Support Leave  

Family Friendly Employment Policy  

Flexible Working Policy. 

2. Background 
 

2.1 The current Family Friendly Policies came into effect in June 2017 and are therefore 
overdue for review. The update to these policies has so far incorporated feedback 
from the People Services team, and any changes in line with current legislation. The 

key changes include: 

2.2 Maternity Leave and Pay Policy Summary of changes:  Updates in line with current 

legislation. Format changed from procedure to, policy and procedure to include 
introduction and scope. Maternity pay table (Section 11) amended and updated to 
include current rates of statutory pay. References to Child Care vouchers for new 

applicants removed. Any references to intranet changed to “Staff Room”.    
References to Parental Bereavement Leave added.  

 
2.3 Maternity / Adoption Support Leave Policy Summary of changes:  Updates in line 

with current legislation. Format changed from procedure to, policy and procedure to 

include an introduction. Any references to providing original documents replaced with 
the wording of “forwarding a copy”.  References to Parental Bereavement Leave 

added. 
 
2.4 Family Friendly Employment Policy Summary of changes:  Updates in line with 

current legislation. Format changed from procedure to, policy and procedure to 
include introduction and scope. Contact details of the Employee Assistance 

Programme changed to that of the new provider. References to Child Care vouchers 
for new applicants removed. Information added related to the Learning Lounge 
including the online and workshop learning that is available to support employees. 

New section on Parental Bereavement Leave added.  

Page 5 Agenda Item 5



 2   

 

 

2.5 Flexible Working Policy Summary of changes:   Updates in line with current 

legislation. Format changed from procedure to, policy and procedure to include an 
introduction. Definition of flexible working; and sections on trialling new working 
arrangements and varying an employee’s contract added.  Employees are given the 

voluntary option of telling us why they are making an application. 
 

3. Implications 
 
3.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications 

None 
 

3.2 Legal and Governance Implications 
See Section 3.5. These policies are designed to ensure that we comply with relevant 

legislation and the Equalities Act in particular.  Our policies comply with ACAS and 
CIPD guidelines and codes of practice.  

 

3.3 Risk Implications 
None.  

 
3.4 Corporate/Policy Implications 

None.   

 
3.5 Equality Implications 

This policy is designed to ensure that we meet our obligations in the Equality Act 2010 
by completing an Equality Impact Assessment, where appropriate.  

 

3.6 Human Resources Implications 
As above 

 
3.7 Health and Safety Implications 

None. 

 
 

Ward(s):  All 
Contact Officer: Hilary Price 01905 722055/ 07525 388484  

hilary.price@worcester.gov.uk  

Background Papers: none  
 

 

 

Page 6



 

1 
 

Worcester City Council 

MATERNITY LEAVE & PAY POLICY AND 

PROCEDURE 
 

Title  Maternity Leave & Pay Policy and 

Procedure 

Status   Draft 

Document 

Version 

V1.1 

Author  Hilary Price 

Sponsor Mark Edwards 

Owner People Services 

Approved by  

Approved date  

Review 

frequency 

 

Next Review:  

 
 

 

 

 

Version History 

Version Date Description 

1.0 28.6.17  P&GP approved 
 

1.1 22.7.20 Review of existing 
procedure 

   

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 7 Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



 

2 
 

 

 

 

 

Contents 

1. INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. SCOPE .......................................................................................................................................................... 3 

3. WHAT AM I ENTITLED TO? .................................................................................................................... 3 

4. WHAT IS A RISK ASSESSMENT?.......................................................................................................... 3 

5. WHAT ABOUT ANTENATAL APPOINTMENTS? .................................................................................. 4 

6. WHAT ELSE SHOULD I KNOW? ............................................................................................................ 4 

7. HOW DO I QUALIFY FOR MATERNITY LEAVE? .................................................................................. 4 

8. HOW DO I NOTIFY THE COUNCIL OF MY PREGNANCY? .................................................................. 4 

9. WHAT ARE THE TYPES OF MATERNITY PAY? ................................................................................... 5 

10. WHAT IF I DO NOT QUALIFY FOR ANY TYPE OF MATERNITY PAY? ............................................... 7 

11. HOW MUCH WILL I BE PAID? ................................................................................................................ 7 

12. WHAT IS SHARED PARENTAL LEAVE AND PAY? ............................................................................. 8 

13. SHOULD THE COUNCIL AND I MAINTAIN CONTACT DURING MATERNITY LEAVE? .................... 8 

14. WHAT IS MY CONTRACTUAL STATUS WHILST ON MATERNITY LEAVE? ..................................... 8 

15. WHAT ABOUT MY PENSION? ................................................................................................................ 8 

16. WHAT ABOUT THE SUBSCRIPTIONS I PAY THROUGH MY SALARY? ............................................ 8 

17. WHAT ARE KEEPING IN TOUCH DAYS (KIT)? .................................................................................... 9 

18. WHAT ANNUAL LEAVE AM I ENTITLED TO? ...................................................................................... 9 

19. WHEN DO I RETURN TO WORK FOLLOWING MATERNITY LEAVE?................................................ 9 

20. SOMETIMES DIFFICULT SITUATIONS ARISE… ................................................................................ 10 

21. CAN I REQUEST FLEXIBLE WORKING? ............................................................................................ 10 

22. AM I ELIGIBLE FOR TAX CREDITS? ................................................................................................... 10 

23. WHAT IF I AM UNHAPPY WITH A DECISION ON MATERNITY? ....................................................... 10 

24. OUR OTHER FAMILY FRIENDLY PROCEDURES. ............................................................................. 10 

 

Commonly Used Abbreviations 

 

Additional Maternity Leave    AML 

Expected week of childbirth/confinement  EWC 

Keeping In Touch Days     KIT 

Maternity Allowance     MA 

Maternity Certificate     MATB1 

Ordinary Maternity Leave     OML 

Occupational Maternity Pay    OMP 

Shared Parental Leave Keep in Touch Days  SPLIT 

Statutory Maternity Pay     SMP 

Page 8



 

3 
 

 

 

  

1. Introduction 

 

The Council is committed to helping its employees balance their family and work 

commitments. This policy and procedure explain the leave and pay available to you 

during your pregnancy and in the first year following the birth of your child. It will 

support you in planning for maternity leave and returning to work after leave. 

2. Scope 
 
 

This policy applies to employees of the Council who meet the eligibility criteria. 

3. What am I entitled to? 

 
 You have the right, regardless of service, of up to 52 weeks Maternity Leave, 

made up of 26 weeks Ordinary Maternity Leave (OML) and 26 weeks 
Additional Maternity Leave (AML). 

 You may be entitled to a maximum of 39 weeks Statutory Maternity Pay 

(SMP) or Maternity Allowance (MA).   
 You may also qualify for the Council’s Occupational Maternity Pay (OMP). 

 You have the right to return to work in the same role, with the same terms 
and conditions during OML.  Additionally, a suitable alternative job could also 
be offered on return from AML (if your original job no longer exists). 

 During Maternity Leave, you can agree to have up to 10 Keeping In Touch 
(KIT) days. 

 You have the right to a risk assessment.  
 You have the right to paid reasonable time off for antenatal care. 
 You have the right to protection against unfavourable treatment during 

pregnancy and maternity. 
 You have the right to pay rises and accrued holidays. 

 You may also be eligible to get Shared Parental Leave and Pay. 

4. What is a Risk Assessment? 
 

If you are pregnant or breastfeeding, we have a legal obligation to ensure you have a 
healthy and safe working environment. 

 
Pregnancy: When you notify us that you are pregnant, we will complete a risk 
assessment. There may be a need to alter your working conditions, or to adjust 

working hours, or to offer you suitable alternative work. 
 

New mothers: When at work and you need to express breast milk, we will arrange for 
suitable private facilities to be made available for you. It would be helpful if you could 
give us adequate notice to organise this.  For further advice on risk assessments, 

Page 9

https://www.gov.uk/shared-parental-leave-and-pay


 

4 
 

please contact Health & Safety or People Services. 

5. What about antenatal appointments? 

 
Regardless of length of service, you are entitled to paid reasonable time off for 
antenatal care made on the advice of a registered GP, registered health visitor or 

registered midwife.   
 

You will be expected to give reasonable notice and may need to provide evidence of 
antenatal appointments, e.g. an appointment card or a certificate signed by your GP.  
Please try to make your appointments at the beginning or end of the working day to 

minimise disruption in your team. 
 

Fathers and partners who are employees can take unpaid time off (subject to business 
need) to accompany their partner to up to two appointments. They can take up to 6.5 

hours per appointment, including travelling and waiting time  
 

6. What else should I know? 
 

 You must take at least 2 weeks Maternity Leave directly after the birth. 
 Usually, the earliest time you can start Maternity Leave is at the beginning of 

the 11th week before your expected week of childbirth/confinement (EWC). 
 Leave will also start the day after the birth if the baby is early or automatically 

if you’re off work for a pregnancy-related illness in the 4 weeks before the week 

(Sunday to Saturday) that your baby is due. 

7. How do I qualify for Maternity Leave? 

 

You must notify the Council of your pregnancy by the end of the 15th week before the 

EWC. You must be in continuous employment up to the beginning of the 11th week 

before the EWC.  This is the earliest time you can start your maternity leave (unless 

the baby is premature in which case it will start earlier).   

8. How do I notify the Council of my pregnancy? 

 

You must notify us in writing, at least 28 days before you wish to start your Maternity 

Leave.  Tell us: 

 That you are pregnant and your expected week of childbirth. (EWC) 

 The date you wish your Maternity Leave to start. 

 If you wish to receive OMP, you should also indicate that you intend to return to 

work and state how you would like your OMP to be paid. (See What Maternity 

Pay am I entitled to?) 

 You must obtain a Maternity Certificate (MATB1) from a registered GP or 

midwife and forward the document to People Services within 21 days of the 

date you wish to start your maternity leave.   . 

 

Page 10



 

5 
 

People Services will write to you within 28 days of receiving your request to start 

Maternity Leave confirming your entitlements and to let you know your expected 

date of return.  

 

You must give us 8 weeks notice if you wish to change your return date.  You can 

also change the start date for your Maternity Leave provided that you give us 28 

days notice. 

9. What are the types of Maternity Pay? 
 
Occupational Maternity Pay  

 
To qualify for OMP: 

 
 You must have completed a minimum of one year’s continuous service with the 

Council by the 11th week before the expected week of childbirth.  

 You must indicate in writing before you start your Maternity Leave that you 
intend to return to work following your Maternity Leave. 

 You are required to return to work for a minimum of 3 months at the end of your 
Maternity Leave period to qualify for OMP.  If you do not return for the required 

time then any OMP paid will be claimed back. 
 If you return on reduced hours, you must return for a period equivalent to 3 

months at the hours worked before Maternity Leave commenced.  For example, 

someone who worked 37 hours per week, returning at 18.5 hours, you would be 
required to return for at least 6 months. If you are unsure of your intention to 

return, you can elect to have your OMP deferred and paid usually in a lump sum 
at a later date. Please speak with People Services.  

 Payments are based on your current salary and will be adjusted to reflect any 

pay increases during the Maternity Leave period.   
 

Statutory Maternity Pay  
 
SMP is payable for up to 39 weeks during your Maternity Pay period.  

 
To qualify for SMP:  

 
 You will have been employed continuously for at least 26 weeks ending with the 

15th week before the expected week of childbirth.  

 You will have average weekly earnings in the eight weeks proceeding the 
qualifying week, at least equal to the lower earnings limit for National 

Insurance contributions. The Council will inform you if your average weekly 
earnings are below the lower earnings limit.  

 You will be employed by the Council during the period of SMP and have 

complied with our notice requirements. 
 You will still be pregnant eleven weeks before the start of the EWC or have 

already given birth. 
 You are not required to pay back any SMP received, even if you do not return to 

work.   

 If your employment ends for any reason during or after the 15th week before 
the EWC, you retain your full entitlement to SMP. 

 If you do not qualify for SMP, you may be entitled to Maternity Allowance. 

Page 11



 

6 
 

 
  

Page 12



 

7 
 

Maternity Allowance  
 

MA is paid for up to 39 weeks. To qualify, you must have been employed or self-
employed for 26 weeks out of the 66 weeks before the expected week of childbirth.   
Maternity Allowance is paid every 2 or 4 weeks.  

 
People Services can provide further advice regarding how Maternity Allowance should 

be claimed, or visit www.gov.uk. 
  

10. What if I do not qualify for any type of Maternity Pay? 

 
If you are not entitled to OMP, SMP or MA, you will still be entitled to take up to 52 

weeks unpaid maternity leave. 
 

 

11. How much will I be paid? 
 

 

Maternity 

Leave period 

Occupational Maternity Pay 

(OMP) 

Statutory Maternity Pay 

(SMP) 

Weeks  
1 - 6 

  
 

SMP is paid at 90% of 
average weekly earnings 

(before Tax).  
 

Maternity 

Leave period 

Occupational Maternity Pay 

(OMP) 

Statutory Maternity Pay 

(SMP) 

Weeks 7-39 6 weeks of pay in addition to SMP at 
standard rate. 

 
OMP can be spread over a mutually 

agreed distribution period (providing 
the total does not exceed normal 
pay). 

e.g. 12 weeks at half pay from 
weeks 7 – 18 

 
You could also opt to be paid this 
amount in full when you return to 

work after Maternity Leave period. 
However the combination of OMP 

and SMP cannot exceed full pay. 

£151.20 per week  (as at 
1.4.20) or 90% of your 

average weekly earnings 
(whichever is lower). 

 
  

Page 13

http://www.gov.uk/


 

8 
 

12. What is Shared Parental Leave and Pay? 
 

If you are eligible, Shared Parental Leave enables both you and your partner to share 

the care of your child during the first year of birth or adoption. You or your partner 
would end maternity / adoption leave and pay early, then take the rest of the 52 
weeks as Shared Parental Leave and pay.  Please refer to the policy on Staff Room 

which contains full guidance or speak with People Services can provide further advice.  

13. Should the Council and I maintain contact during Maternity Leave? 
 
Yes, there should be ‘reasonable contact’ between yourself and the Council whilst you 
are on Maternity Leave, which can be agreed in advance.  We will aim to keep you 

informed of vacancies, training opportunities and any important workforce 
developments as they occur. All job opportunities can also be accessed on 

www.wmjobs.co.uk or our own website, www.worcester.gov.uk 

14. What is my contractual status whilst on Maternity Leave? 

 

Your employment terms and conditions are protected during Maternity Leave and you 

are entitled to any pay rises and improvements in terms and conditions awarded 
during the leave. You should not enter into any other form of contractual employment 
(paid or otherwise) during this time. You may however, undertake training courses.  

15. What about my pension?  
 

Whilst on Maternity Leave, the amount of LGPS pension you build up will not be 

affected.  This means that if you have a period of reduced contractual pay during 

Maternity Leave, your pension is still worked out using an average of your usual 

pensionable pay (before the reduction in pay took place). You will only pay your 

contributions on any pay that you receive.   

 

If you decide to take a period of unpaid Maternity Leave (usually from week 40 to 

week 52), you will not build up pension benefits. You can elect to cover the period of 

pension “lost” by taking out an Additional Pension Contribution (APC) contract. 

 

Where an APC contract is taken out to cover the pension “lost” during a period of 

unpaid Maternity Leave, the cost is shared 1/3rd to the employee and 2/3rds to the 

employer, provided that you make an election to buy the “lost” pension within 30 

days of returning to work. For more information please speak to People Services. 

16. What about the subscriptions I pay through my salary?  
 

Salary deductions, including the Orchard Healthcare Plan (WHCA), Trade Union 

subscriptions, Childcare vouchers and the Cycle to Work Scheme, will continue as long 
as you are receiving pay and it is enough to cover the deductions. After this time you 

should make arrangements directly with the appropriate organisations to ensure 
correct payment. 

Page 14

http://www.wmjobs.co.uk/


 

9 
 

17. What are Keeping In Touch days (KIT)? 
 

Whilst you are on Maternity Leave you are able to work up to 10 days without 
bringing your Maternity Leave to an end.  These days are known as KIT days. 
 

 Working for only part of a day will count as one whole KIT day.   
 Any work done during this period must be agreed with the Council and you will 

be paid full pay for the exact time worked.  
 You are not obliged to take any KIT days and the Council is not required to 

allow them. 

 You are not able to take KIT days during the first two weeks following a birth. 
 During these 10 days, which may or may not be taken as a block, you will not 

lose any OMP, SMP or MA.  
 KIT days may include training /team away days/ team meetings/Council 

briefings.  
 Once you have used your 10 KIT days, if you do any further work you will lose 

OMP, SMP or MA for each week in which you do that work. 

 If you undertake KIT days, this does not mean that your Maternity Leave is 
extended. It will remain at 52 weeks.   

 Shared Parental Leave in touch (SPLIT) days are for parents taking Shared 
Parental Leave.  Each parent is entitled to 20 SPLIT days. See the Shared 
Parental Leave Procedure, for further details. 

 
The KIT and SPLIT Application Forms are available on  Staff Room or contact People 

Services. 

18. What annual leave am I entitled to? 
 

Annual leave will continue to accrue during all of your Maternity Leave. You will also 

be granted the appropriate number of days off in lieu of any public / bank holidays 
that occur during your Maternity Leave. You are advised to discuss arrangements for 

taking this accrued leave with your manager before you return to work. 

19. When do I return to work following Maternity Leave? 

 
It is assumed that you will return to work after your Maternity Leave.  You must take 
at least 2 weeks Maternity Leave after a birth.  

 
 If you return to work at the end of your full 52 weeks of Maternity Leave you do 

not need to provide any notice.  
 If you wish to return early from your Maternity Leave you must give 8 weeks 

notice. 

 If you decide not to return to work and you have received any Occupational 
Maternity Pay whilst you have been on Maternity Leave, you will normally be 

required to repay it (although you will not have to repay your SMP). 
 If you are unable to return to work on the expected date because of sickness, 

this will still be classed as a return to work and you should follow the same 

notification and certification procedures as for any other sickness absence. 
 Following OML you are entitled to return to the same job in which you were 

employed before, on the same terms and conditions.  If you take AML and it is 

Page 15



 

10 
 

not practical for you to return to your original post, then you will be offered 
another post appropriate for you in the circumstances. 

 If during Maternity Leave, there is a Council restructure and your post then 
ceases to exist after consultation, you will be kept updated and the appropriate 
Council policies will apply. 

 

20. Sometimes difficult situations arise…   
 

 Miscarriage, Stillbirth or Termination: If a miscarriage or termination occurs 
before 24 weeks of pregnancy then Maternity Leave and Pay does not apply.  If 
you are unfit to be at work, then normal sickness reporting procedures will 

apply.  If a miscarriage or termination happens after 24 weeks then Maternity 
Leave and Pay will apply. Entitlements to Paternity Leave, Maternity /Adoption 

Support Leave and Shared Parental Leave also apply. 
 

 Premature Birth: A baby born prematurely (even if prior to 24 weeks) will mean 

that Maternity Leave and Pay entitlements will begin from the date of birth. If 
the baby subsequently does not survive, then Maternity Leave and Pay will still 

apply because a live birth did take place. 
 

 Multiple Births: Maternity Leave remains at 52 weeks regardless of the number 
of children resulting from a single pregnancy. 

21. Can I request Flexible Working? 

 

All employees have the statutory right to request Flexible Working after 26 weeks 
continuous employment with the Council.  For further information, please see our 

Flexible Working Procedure. 

22. Am I eligible for Tax Credits? 
 

If you return to work you may be eligible for Working Tax Credits. To review, please 
visit www.gov.uk 

23. What if I am unhappy with a decision on Maternity? 

 
You have the right to protection against unfavourable treatment during pregnancy 

and maternity.  If you are dissatisfied with any decision made in respect of Maternity 
rights, you should firstly highlight it to your manager, or speak to People Services.  
You are also able to raise your concern via the Council’s formal grievance procedure, 

which is found on the Intranet.   
 

24. Our other Family Friendly Procedures. 
 

Parental Leave         Flexible Working 
Adoption Leave and Pay  Paternity Leave and Pay 

Shared Parental Leave         Maternity and Adoption Support Leave 
Parental Bereavement Leave 

Page 16

http://www.gov.uk/


   

1 

 

Worcester City Council 

MATERNITY / ADOPTION SUPPORT 
LEAVE AND PAY POLICY AND 

PROCEDURE  
 
 

  Maternity / Adoption Support Leave and 
Pay Policy and Procedure 

Status  Draft 

Document 

Version 

V1.1 

Author  Hilary Price 

Sponsor Mark Edwards 

Owner People Services 

Approved by  

Approved date  

Review 

frequency 

 

Next Review:  

 

 
 

Version History 

Version Date Description 

   

   

1.0 27.3.17 Approved P&GP 

1.1 June 2020 Review of above 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 17 Agenda Item 5
Appendix 2



   

2 

 

 
 

 
 

Contents 

 

1. Introduction ...................................................................................... 3 
2. Do I qualify for Maternity / Adoption Support Leave? .............................. 3 
3. What am I entitled to? ........................................................................ 3 
4. How do I give notice to take Maternity / Adoption Support Leave? ........... 3 
5. Can I request Maternity / Adoption support Leave as well as Paternity 
Leave and/or Shared Parental Leave? ........................................................... 3 
6. What if I am unhappy with a decision on Maternity / Adoption Support 
leave? ....................................................................................................... 4 
7. Our other Family Friendly Policies. ....................................................... 4 
8. APPENDIX 1 ...................................................................................... 5 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



   

3 

 

 
 

Maternity and Adoption Support Leave and Pay 
 

1. Introduction 

 

The Council recognises that the birth or adoption of a child is one of the most 
important events in the lives of our employees and is committed to helping them 
balance their family and work commitments. This policy and procedure provides 

employees with information about their entitlements to leave and pay for the 
birth or adoption of a baby or child.  
 

2. Do I qualify for Maternity / Adoption Support Leave? 

 
Yes, if you are a Council employee, there is no length of service requirement. 

 Maternity / Adoption Support Leave is paid leave, to enable you to be the 
“primary supporter” of a new mother or a new adoptive parent.  

 You have or will expect to have responsibility for the child's upbringing. 
You could be the father, mother’s husband, the partner (including same 

sex relationships), grandparent etc.   
 A new mother or adoptive parent can only nominate one person to be their 

primary provider of support. 

3. What am I entitled to? 

 

You are entitled to one week’s leave at full pay, to be taken at or about the time 
of the birth or placement for adoption.  
 

4. How do I give notice to take Maternity / Adoption Support Leave? 

 

 You must complete an application form (Appendix 1).  This must be signed 

and completed both by you and the prospective mother/adoptive parent.  
 You must forward a copy of the relevant document with the application 

form, as follows:   

Maternity = MATB1 Certificate signed by a GP or midwife.   
Adoption = Adoption Matching Certificate.   

. 
 You should complete the application form as early as possible to keep your 

manager informed of your intentions.  However, if you are unable to 

complete the exact dates of leave requested when making the application, 
please put approximate dates and note this on the form. 

 Once the application has been approved it should be forwarded to People 
Services who will write to you to confirm approval. 
 

5. Can I request Maternity / Adoption support Leave as well as Paternity 
Leave and/or Shared Parental Leave? 

 
You would firstly need to qualify for Paternity and Shared Parental Leave – 
please refer to these procedures. 

Page 19



   

4 

 

 
Paternity Leave You are unable to take both Maternity / Adoption Support Leave 

and 2 weeks Paternity Leave, but you can take 2 weeks off in total, the first or 
second week as Maternity / Adoption Support Leave. 

Shared Parental Leave You may first choose to exhaust any Paternity Leave or 
Maternity / Adoption Support Leave entitlements (as you cannot take these once 
you have taken any Shared Parental Leave). 

 

6. What if I am unhappy with a decision on Maternity / Adoption 

Support leave ? 

 
If you are dissatisfied with any decision made in respect of Maternity/Adoption 

support Leave, you should firstly highlight it to your manager, or speak to 
People Services.  You are also able to raise your concern via the Council’s 

formal grievance procedure, which is found on Staff Room.   

7. Our other Family Friendly Policies. 

 

 Parental Leave 

 Flexible Working 
 Paternity Leave and Pay 

 Adoption Leave and Pay 
 Maternity Leave and Pay 

 Shared Parental Leave and Pay 

 Parental Bereavement Leave 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 20



   

5 

 

 

8. APPENDIX 1 

APPLICATION FOR MATERNITY/ADOPTION SUPPORT LEAVE 
 

Employee Name  

Post Title  

Service Area  

Payroll Number  

Line Manager Name  

Relationship to Mother / Adopter  

 
Declaration 

I hereby declare that I have been nominated by the mother/adopter* named 
below as her/his* primary provider of support and apply for one week for 

maternity/adoption* support leave at or around the time of birth/adoption*.  
 
Signed: _____________________________  Date: _________________ 

 

Anticipated Dates of 

Leave 

From: To: 

 
Mother’s/Adopter’s* Details and Authority 

 

Name  

 

Address  

 

Expected Date of Childbirth / 

Adoption Matching Date: 

 

Maternity:  Please forward a copy of the MATB1 Certificate. Adoption:   Please forward a copy of 

the  Adoption Matching Certificate.   

 
Declaration 

I hereby declare that the above named will be my primary provider of support at 
or around the time of childbirth/adoption*. 
 

Signed: ________________________________          Date: _____________ 

 

 

Application approved 
 

Manager Signed: _____________________________  Date: _____________ 
 
Name: ____________________________________ _ 

 
Form and Certificate to be forwarded to People Services. * delete as appropriate 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Worcester City Council  

 

  

Worcester City Council  

FAMILY FRIENDLY 

EMPLOYMENT POLICY   

 

 

Title   Family Friendly Employment Policy  

Status   

Document Version  V1.1  

Author    Hilary Price 

Sponsor  Mark Edwards  

Owner  People Services  

  

Approved date   

Review frequency  Bi-annual  

Next Review:   

Version History    

Version  Date  Description  

   

1.0  28 June 2017  P&GP approval  

 1.1 July 2020  Review of existing policy 

  

  

  

  

 

  

 

  

Page 23 Agenda Item 5
Appendix 3



Worcester City Council  

 

Contents  

1      INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................... 3 

2      SCOPE  .................................................................................................................................. 3 

3  THE PROCEDURES ............................................................................................................... 3 

4  OTHER HELP AND BENEFITS ............................................................................................... 4 

5  RELATED DOCUMENTS ........................................................................................................ 5 

 

  

  

  

   

Page 24



Worcester City Council  

 

1      INTRODUCTION   

  

We recognise that many employees often do two jobs – they have family 

responsibilities and go to work. We want to do all we can to support our 

employees in adopting a healthy work life balance. We want our people to feel 

confident, fully motivated and able to perform to the best of their ability.    

As a caring employer, we value everyone’s contribution and have therefore 

developed a range of Family - Friendly procedures, practices and support 

mechanisms to make the work life balance that bit easier.  

  

2       SCOPE  

  

This applies to all our employees, but some of the procedures enact 

employment legislation and require a minimum length of service.  This is 

detailed in the individual procedural documents.   

  

3  THE PROCEDURES       

  

3.1  Flexible Working  

This allows employees to ask to change some aspect of their working pattern, 

for example reducing total working hours or changing the days worked.  Such 

requests are often linked to family caring responsibilities but that does not have 

to be the case.  

  

3.2  Maternity or Adoption Leave and Pay  

Employees can take up to 52 weeks leave to enjoy being a new mother or 

parent, with the knowledge that they can return to work in the same or similar 

role, whilst retaining their terms & conditions of employment, benefits and 

career opportunities.  

  

3.3  Paternity Leave and Pay  

Fathers can take one or two week’s statutory leave to support the 

mother/adopter and child in the first 8 weeks after a birth or adoption.   A great 

opportunity for the new family to bond – or for the father to take the reins if 

their partner needs to put their feet up!  

  

Page 25



Worcester City Council  

 

3.4  Maternity and Adoption Support Leave and Pay  

A great accompaniment to Paternity Leave and Pay.  We can offer fathers (or 

the primary supporter) full pay for up to 5 days as part of your statutory 

paternity leave.  We know that every penny counts when you have a new 

member of the family.  

  

3.5  Shared Parental Leave and Pay  

We want to be able to give parents and adopters more flexibility in the first year 

with their child. They may be able to share up to 50 weeks of statutory leave 

with their partner.  It could help partners both financially and in terms of time 

to enjoy the parental experience.  

  

3.6  Parental Leave  

Parents can take up to 4 weeks unpaid leave every year (from when a baby is 

born or on adoption, until they are 18 years old) up to a maximum of 18 weeks 

(for the welfare needs of the child).   

Parental Bereavement Leave 

We are committed to supporting employees through their grief by ensuring that 
bereaved parents can take parental bereavement leave. Bereaved parents can 

be absent from work for two weeks on full pay. 
  

4  OTHER HELP AND BENEFITS   

  

  

4.1  Support when it’s needed  

Employees can access our 24/7 confidential and independent helpline on 0808 

168 2143 to help with any emotional, health or practical needs of being a new 

parent.  The helpline has a wealth of free expertise at the end of a line. The 

service can also be accessed online. 

  

4.2  Learning and development  

The Learning Lounge contains an array of online and workshop learning to 

support employees on their return to work.  We can help people refresh or 

develop new skills.  

  

4.3  Family Health  

Our Orchard Healthcare plan offers help with everyday medical costs.  

Additionally, Maternity / Paternity Grants are payable on the birth of each child.  

Page 26



Worcester City Council  

 

  

4.4  Agile Working practices  

Give flexibility around time, location and role whilst at work, to meet the values 

and vision of the Council  

  

5  RELATED DOCUMENTS  

  

• Flexible Working Procedure   

• Maternity or Adoption Leave and Pay Procedure  

• Paternity Leave and Pay Procedure  

• Maternity and Adoption Support leave and Pay Procedure   

• Shared Parental leave and Pay Procedure   

• Parental leave Procedure  

• Parental Bereavement Leave  

  

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Worcester City Council 

FLEXIBLE WORKING POLICY 

AND PROCEDURE 

 
Title  Flexible Working Policy and Procedure 

Status  Draft 

Document Version V1.2 

Author  Hilary Price 

Sponsor Mark Edwards 

Owner People Services 

Approved by  

Approved date  

Review frequency  

Next Review:  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Version History 

Version Date Description 

3 24.3.17 Approved by 
P&GPC 

1.2 22.7.20 Draft 

   

Page 29 Agenda Item 5
Appendix 4



 2 

 
 
 
Contents 
1. Introduction ..........................................................................................................2 
2. What is Flexible Working? ..................................................................................3 
3. Who is eligible to apply for Flexible Working? ..................................................3 
4. Submitting a Flexible Working Request .............................................................3 
5. Discussing the Flexible Working Request .........................................................3 
6. Responding to a Flexible Working Request .......................................................4 
7. Right to Appeal Decision .....................................................................................5 
8. Trialling New Working Arrangements ................................................................5 
9. Varying an Employee’s Contract ........................................................................5 
Appendix 1.   Application Form for Flexible Working ...........................................6 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
1. Introduction 

 
This policy aims to set out for employees their right to request flexible 

working and how the Council will respond to such requests. The Council 
recognises that a better work-life balance can improve employee motivation, 
performance and productivity, and reduce stress. Therefore, the Council 

wants to support its employees to achieve a better balance between work 

Page 30



 3 

and their other priorities, such as caring responsibilities, leisure activities and 
further learning.  

 
The Council is committed to agreeing any flexible working arrangements, 

provided that the needs and objectives of both the Council and the employee 
can be met.    

 
2. What is Flexible Working?  

 
Flexible working is any type of working arrangement that gives some degree 
of flexibility on how long, where and when an employee works. Examples 

include part-time working, flexi-time, job-sharing, home-working and 
compressed hours. 

 
3. Who is eligible to apply for Flexible Working? 
 

An employee can make a request for flexible working if they satisfy the 
qualifying conditions:    

 
 They have 26 weeks continuous service by the date that the 

application is made. 

 They have not submitted an application for flexible working within the 
previous 12 months.  

 
4. Submitting a Flexible Working Request  

 
Requests for changes to hours of work, place of work and / or time of work 
will be given serious consideration. Requests for flexible working should be 

made in writing on the form attached at Appendix 1. 
 

 Employees need to state the date the request is made, the change 
to working conditions they are seeking and the date they would like 
the change to take effect;  

 state whether they have made a previous application for flexible 
working and the date of that application;  

 what change to working conditions they are seeking and how they 
think this may or may not impact the Council; 

 state if they are making their request in relation to the Equality Act 

2010, for example, as a reasonable adjustment for a disability.  
 

 
Employees are only able to make only one application a year.  If an 

application is accepted by the Council it will result in permanent changes to 
their terms and conditions of employment, unless it is agreed otherwise.  
 
5. Discussing the Flexible Working Request  

 

The  line manager will arrange to meet with the employee within 28 days of 
receiving the written request. (This time limit may be extended with the 
agreement of both the employee,  line manager and People Services)   

 
At this meeting employees are encouraged on a voluntary basis to share the 

reason they are seeking the change as this will help us to respond in the 
most appropriate way. 
 

Page 31



 4 

The purpose of the meeting will be to explore the working arrangement 
requested in more detail, discuss how best it may be accommodated together 

with possible alternative working arrangements in the event that it is not 
possible to agree the working arrangements originally requested.  

 
 6. Responding to a Flexible Working Request 
 

The line manager (in conjunction with People Services, where appropriate) 
will consider the proposed flexible working arrangements, looking at the 

potential benefits and adverse effects to the employee and to the Council in 
implementing the proposed changes.   
 

Each request will be considered on a case-by-case basis. Agreeing to one 
request will not set a precedent or create the right for another employee to 

be granted a similar change to their working pattern.  
 
The Council is committed to providing a range of appropriate working 

patterns. However, employees and management need to be realistic and 
recognise that not all flexible working options will be appropriate for all roles.    

 
Reasons for Refusing an Application 

 
Employers can  refuse a request for any of the  following reasons: 

 the burden of additional costs  

 an inability to reorganise work amongst existing staff  

 an inability to recruit additional staff  

 a detrimental impact on quality 

 a detrimental impact on performance  

 detrimental effect on ability to meet customer demand  

 insufficient work for the periods the employee proposes to work  

 planned structural changes to the business. 

 

The employee  will be informed of the decision in writing within 14 days after 
the date of the meeting. This letter will either confirm the new working 
arrangements agreed to, or will set out the reasons why the application 

cannot be accepted.  
  

Page 32



 5 

 
 

7. Right to Appeal Decision  
 

If the request is refused, the employee will also be advised of their right of 
appeal.  
 

The employee may lodge an appeal within 14 days of being notified of their 
application being rejected. This should be done in writing and clearly state 

the grounds on which they are appealing. The appeal will be heard within 14 
days. The employee will then be informed of the outcome to their appeal 
within 14 days of the appeal meeting.  These time limits may be extended by 

mutual agreement although the law requires the process to be completed 
within three months of the request being received. (This includes any 

appeals). 
 
8. Trialling New Working Arrangements  

 
Where there is some uncertainty about whether the flexible working 

arrangement is practicable for an employee and /or the Council, a trial period 
may be agreed. If a trial period is arranged the Council will allow sufficient 

time for the employee and their manager to implement and become used to 
the new working arrangements before taking any decisions on the viability 
off a new arrangement.  

 
The Council will reserve the right, at the end of the agreed trial period, to 

require the employee to revert to their previous working arrangement. 
 
 

9. Varying an Employee’s Contract 
 

Where flexible working practices are agreed as a permanent change, a 
variation will need to be made to the employee’s contract of employment. An 
amendment to contract letter will be sent to the employee within 28 days of 

the change to the employee’s working pattern being agreed.    
 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 33



 6 

Appendix 1.   Application Form for Flexible Working 
 
 

Employee Name  
 

Post Title  
 

Service Area  
 

Payroll Number  
 

Line Manager Name  
 

 

 

Date request submitted:   

I wish to submit a request for flexible working as detailed below. 

Have you submitted a previous request for flexible 

working? (If yes, please answer the next question.) 

Yes No 

When did you submit your last request for flexible 
working? 

  

Pattern of working 

Please state the pattern of working you are seeking by providing information 

under one or more of the following three headings: 

1. I would like to reduce my working hours.  Detail your current 
number of hours worked per week and the number of hours you would 

like to work per week. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

2. I would like to alter the days I work and / or the timing of my 
working hours. Please indicate the days / times of day you would like 
to work per week. 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  

Page 34



 7 

3. I would like to do all / some of my work from home.  Please be 
precise about the number of hours and days / times of the week you 
would like to work at home. 

  
 

 
  
 

 
  

I would like the above change(s) to my working 

pattern to take effect on: 
      /       /   

Please state the impact, if any, that you think the changes you are 

requesting will have on the Council's ability to run its operation and 
on your service area, your team, your colleagues, etc. 

 (continue on separate sheet if necessary) 

  
 

 
 
 

 
 

Please state how you think any such impact might be countered? 

 

I am submitting a flexible working request. The Council will contact me to 

arrange a meeting, which will take place within 28 days of this application 
being submitted, to discuss the new pattern of working I have requested. If 

my request is granted, it will change the terms and conditions of my 
employment, normally for a minimum of 12 months, unless agreed 
otherwise.  

 
I have provided as much information as I can about my desired working 

pattern, including how it will meet the Council’s needs and objectives. 

Signed:  Date:  

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Family Friendly Policy and Procedures
	Maternity Leave V 1.1 June 2020
	Maternity and Adoption Support Leave Policy v1.1  June 2020
	Family Friendly Employment Policy V1.1
	Flexible Working Procedure 1.2


